THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2017-CP-10-01324

RECEIVED
FEB 16 2024
SC Court of Appeals

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000898

Steven McLemore and Bonnie Jean Eagle as Natural Parents for the Estate of D. M.,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission d/b/a James Island County Park;
Yearround Pool Co., Inc.; SGA Architecture; South Carolina Department of Health and
Environmental Control; and John Doe and/or John Doe Corporation,

Defendants.

OF WHOM:

Bonnie Jean Eagle is Appellant

and

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN HOLDING THAT IT LACKED SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION WHEN IT DISMISSED PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT UNDER RULE 12(b)(1), SCRCP?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 14, 2016, an unusually warm early summer day, Bonnie Eagle took her three-year old son D.M. and other children to the Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission's James Island County Park to play on the spray-and-play pad which was near a pond in the park. Eagle was playfully chasing her nephew and did not immediately notice when her son D.M. left the spray-and-play area which was unfenced and ungated and fell into a pond and drowned. Several hours later police divers found the child's body submerged in the nearby pond. The parents of D.M. filed a wrongful death lawsuit on March 14, 2017 against Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission d/b/a James Island County Park; Yearround Pool Co., Inc.; SGA Architecture; South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control and John Doe.

During the course of the litigation Appellant entered into a partial settlement of the wrongful death claim with the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control. This settlement included a Full, Final and Complete Release of the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control only. (R. p. 71). In the Release, the following bold language was cited:

Notwithstanding this Release, the Plaintiffs do not hereby release any claims against Defendants Charleston County Parks & Recreation Commission ("CCPRC") d/b/a James Island County Park, Yearround Pool Co., Inc., or SGA Architecture. This Release does not release any other governmental entity other than SCDHEC. (R. p. 74).

The Plaintiffs properly filed a petition for court approval of the partial settlement of the wrongful death claim. The petition was served on all parties including Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission d/b/a James Island County Park. It was eventually heard in the Court of

Common Pleas for the Ninth Circuit by Resident Judge Jennifer McCoy on March 31, 2020 who approved the settlement. Despite being notified of the wrongful death settlement hearing, Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission d/b/a James Island County Parks did not attend. Only counsel for the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control and Plaintiffs' counsel were present at the hearing on March 31, 2020. All the other Defendants had notice of the hearing but chose not to participate, nor did they object to the terms of the settlement. The circuit court approved the settlement and stated as follows:

The compromise as recited in the Petition and the Release is approved as fair, just, and reasonable settlement of the contest and controversy existing between the Estate, its heirs, beneficiaries, and assigns and Defendant South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control. (R. p. 16).¹

Thereafter, the Plaintiffs continued their lawsuit against the remaining Defendants including Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission d/b/a James Island County Park. The Defendant Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission d/b/a James Island County Park filed a motion for summary judgment which was heard on February 11, 2022 by Judge Paul Burch. The motion argued that Plaintiff's claim was barred because of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-70(d) which provides:

A settlement or judgment in an action or a settlement of a claim under this chapter constitutes a complete bar to any further action by the claimant against an employee or governmental entity by reason of the same occurrence.

¹ The trial judge's Order holds that a plaintiff cannot pursue "any other governmental entities." (R. p. 5). This is not the language found in S.C. Code § 15-78-70(d). In fact, S.C. Code § 15-78-70(d) plain meaning is that a settlement against a governmental entity ends the claim against that governmental entity – not another governmental entity. If the legislature had wanted to end claims against two different governmental entities, it would have said so. S.C. Code §15-78-70(d) is silent as to the issue in this case and thus does not prohibit this lawsuit.

Judge Burch denied the motion and based his denial on the Order of Judge McCoy who approved the partial death settlement in which DHEC paid \$10,000.00 to be dismissed. Judge Burch held that Judge McCoy in her Order specifically approved the Release which allowed continued prosecution of a claim against Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission d/b/a James Island County Park. Judge Burch further held that one circuit judge could not overrule another circuit judge and because Judge McCoy approved the Release and Petition, with notice to all interested parties of the hearing on March 31, 2020, he had no authority to overrule her Order. (R. p. 11).

Thereafter, on November 3, 2022, Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission d/b/a James Island County Park filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1), SCRPC. This new motion attempted to argue under Rule 12(b)(1), SCRPC that the circuit court had no subject matter jurisdiction to hear this case. This motion was heard before Judge Kelly who agreed with Defendants and dismissed Plaintiff's complaint. Judge Kelly refused to consider the wrongful death settlement or the Release other than a short footnote on page 5 of his Order in which he held that the Release did not expand subject matter jurisdiction of the Court. Judge Kelly in the footnote stated:

The exclusionary language of the Release is only effective in not expanding the terms of the release to include CCPRC and does not expand the subject matter jurisdiction of the court to that which is prohibited. Otherwise, the paragraph is then an attempt to circumvent S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-70(d) and confer subject matter jurisdiction upon the Court by consent. (R. p. 7).

Plaintiff thereafter timely filed a motion for reconsideration on March 24, 2023 (R. p. 19) which was promptly denied by Judge Kelly. Judge Kelly's Order did not address any of the arguments made in Appellant's motion for reconsideration nor did it address the Affidavit of Plaintiff's original attorney, John Harrell, which was presented before Judge Burch at the motion for summary judgment hearing and is part of the record. Attorney Harrell testified that he specifically reserved the right to

sue Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission d/b/a James Island County Park and that the Release was approved by the circuit court with no objection (R. pp. 59-60).

Despite the procedural history of the case, Judge Kelly held there was no subject matter jurisdiction and ignored the Orders of Judge McCoy and Judge Burch.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(1), SCRCF for lack of subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law. *Porter v. Labor Dept.*, 372 S.C. 560, 567, 643 S.E.2d 96, 100 (Ct. App. 2007). In this case, the motion to dismiss does not deal with subject matter jurisdiction, but with the Order of a circuit court approving a partial settlement with one governmental defendant under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act. As a result, Plaintiff asserts that the standard of review of a settlement agreement is governed by *Buckley v. Shealy*, 370 S.C. 317, 635 S.E.2d 76, 78 (2006). In *Buckley*, this court held, “To be enforceable, settlement agreements must either be entered into the court’s record or acknowledged in open court and placed upon the record.”

A settlement agreement between the parties was reached and placed on the record when the circuit court approved a settlement which allowed the Plaintiff to continue her claim against Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission d/b/a James Island County Park. The settlement order was not appealed and is the law of the case and is enforceable on all parties.

ARGUMENT

I. A SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT REACHED IN CIRCUIT COURT AND PLACED ON THE RECORD IS ENFORCEABLE.

It is undisputed in this case that the parties reached a partial settlement agreement with the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control which agreed to pay \$10,000.00. A Petition for Approval of Settlement of Claim for Wrongful Death and Survival Action Against

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental was filed in the circuit court on March 26, 2020. (R. pp. 67-70). The Release which was signed by the parties on March 17, 2020 stated:

Notwithstanding this Release, the Plaintiffs do not hereby release any claims against Defendants Charleston County Parks & Recreation Commission (“CCPRC”) d/b/a James Island County Park, Yearround Pool Co., Inc., or SGA Architecture. This Release does not release any other governmental entity other than SCDHEC. (R. p. 74).

Thereafter a hearing was held on the partial wrongful death settlement. The hearing was on the record in open court and a written Order Approving Petition for Settlement of Claim for Wrongful Death and Survival Action Against South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control was signed by Judge McCoy on March 31, 2020. (R. pp. 15-18). The Order of Judge McCoy specifically provided:

IT IS ORDERD:

A. The compromise as recited in the Petition and the Release is approved as fair, just, and reasonable settlement of the contest and controversy (R. p. 16).

Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission d/b/a James Island County Park, Yearround Pool Co., Inc., SGA Architect and the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control were all duly notified of the partial wrongful death settlement hearing, and it was approved without objection by any co-defendant. As a result, because this was a settlement entered into the court’s record and also acknowledged in open court the settlement is enforceable against Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission d/b/a James Island County Park. In *Ashfort Corp. v. Palmetto Construction Group, Inc.*, 318 S.C. 492, 493-94, 458 S.E.2d 533 (1995), this court held that Rule 43(k) is applicable to settlement agreements and that “the application of Rule 43(k) will increase the certainty of settlement agreements by avoiding disputes.” 458 S.E. at 535.

Here, there can be no dispute that Plaintiffs intended to settle the claim only with DHEC and no other governmental defendant. The bolded language in the Release clearly shows Plaintiffs' intent and the court approved the Release and Petition. As a result, the Order was not appealed and is the law of the case. The partial wrongful death settlement is effective as against all Defendants by order of the court.

II. THE WRONGFUL DEATH SETTLEMENT ORDER IS THE LAW OF THE CASE.

In this case, the circuit court approved a partial wrongful death settlement for Appellant. The wrongful death settlement order was signed by Judge McCoy after notice to all parties. It contained a release which allowed Appellant to proceed against Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission ("CCPRC") d/b/a James Island County Park. No one objected and Judge McCoy signed the Order approving the settlement. It was not appealed by Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission ("CCPRC") d/b/a James Island County Park and is the law of the case. In *Judy v. Martin*, 381 S.C. 455, 674 S.E.2d 151 (S.C. 2009), the Supreme Court held: "Under the law of the case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were either not raised on appeal, but should have been raised, or raised on appeal but expressly rejected by the appellate court." Here, Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission ("CCPRC") d/b/a James Island County Park offered no objection to the wrongful death settlement or the Release approved by the court despite being notified of the hearing. As a result, the doctrine of the law of the case applies. As stated in *Builders Mut. Ins. Co. v. Bob Wire Elec., Inc.*, 424 S.C. 161, 165, 817 S.E.2d 807, 809 (Ct. App. 2018):

the doctrine of "law of the case" is just that—the law of the case in which it was made, not the law of future cases. *Lifschultz Fast Freight, Inc. v. Haynsworth, Marion, McKay & Guérard*, 334 S.C. 244, 245, 513 S.E.2d 96, 96–97 (1999) (law of the case doctrine "applies only to subsequent proceedings in the same litigation following an appellate decision"); *Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc.*, 413 S.C. 561, 571–72, 776 S.E.2d 397, 403 (Ct. App. 2015) (collecting cases and noting law of case

doctrine prohibits matters decided on appeal from being relitigated in the trial court in the same case). *See also Messenger v. Anderson*, 225 U.S. 436, 444, 32 S. Ct. 739, 56 L. Ed. 1152 (1912) (“[T]he phrase, ‘law of the case,’ as applied to the effect of previous orders on the later action of the court rendering them in the same case, merely expresses the practice of courts generally to refuse to reopen what has been decided, not a limit to their power.”); Wright & Miller, Fed. Prac. & Proc. § 4478 (2d. ed.) (law of the case rules “do not apply between separate actions”).
[emphasis added]

Thus, clearly the law of the case doctrine prohibits Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission (“CCPRC”) d/b/a James Island County Park from arguing that S.C. Code § 15-78-70(d) bars recovery.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THERE WAS NO SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION IN THIS CASE.

It is obvious the circuit court had the ability to handle and dispose of claims filed under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act. The fact that a case may be barred if one of two governmental defendants settles their claim does not deprive the circuit court of subject matter jurisdiction. The issue of interpretation of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act is a matter for summary judgment which in fact was denied by Judge Burch in his Order denying summary judgment. In particular, the obvious question is: Can a second circuit court judge grant a Rule 12(b), SCRCF motion if one governmental defendant settles and it was court approved by another judge? In this case, Judge McCoy approved a Release allowing one governmental defendant to settle out after notice to all parties. Judge McCoy further signed a written partial wrongful death settlement order, and it was not appealed by Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission (“CCPRC”) d/b/a James Island County Park.

In fact, the legislature specifically conferred subject matter jurisdiction of all tort claims against governmental entities on the circuit court. S.C. Code § 15-78-100(b) states:

Jurisdiction for any action brought under this chapter² is in the circuit court and brought in the county in which the act or omission has occurred.

² The parties agree Plaintiffs’ lawsuit is “any action brought under this chapter.”

Judge Kelly in his Order failed to address the seminal case of *Jeter v. South Carolina Dept. of Trans.*, 358 S.C. 528, 595 S.E.2d 827 (Ct. App. 2004), 369 S.C. 433, 633 S.E.2d 143 (2006). In *Jeter*, both the South Carolina Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court addressed S.C. Code § 15-78-100 and unlike Judge Kelly found that exclusive jurisdiction to hear South Carolina Tort Claims cases vest solely with the circuit court. The Supreme Court in *Jeter* made crystal clear that the South Carolina Constitution, art. V, § 11 provides that the circuit court is the general trial court in South Carolina with original jurisdiction in all civil and criminal cases. Further, S.C. Code § 15-78-100(b) specifically vests jurisdiction of all tort claims against a governmental entity in the circuit court. See *Jeter*, 633 S.E.2d 143 (2006).

The Supreme Court in *Jeter* tellingly stated, “Because there is but one circuit court in South Carolina, with uniform subject matter jurisdiction throughout the state, S.C. Code § 15-78-100(b) establishes subject matter jurisdictions for actions under the SCTCA in the circuit court throughout the state.” 633 S.E.2d at 144. Judge Kelly’s Order fails to address this provision of the SCTCA.

The *Jeter* Court then went on to cite numerous cases for the proposition that the circuit court was vested with subject matter jurisdiction. See *Dove v. Gold Kist*, 314 S.C. 235, 442 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1994); *Harrison v. S.C. Tax Comm’n*, 261 S.C. 302, 199 S.E.2d 763 (1973) (*overruled on other grounds by McCall by Andrews v. Batson*, 285 S.C. 243, 329 S.E.2d 741 (1985)). Each of those cases made clear that when a statute vests jurisdiction it is the only place in which a case may be brought by a party.

As a result of *Jeter*, the South Carolina Supreme Court specifically held that any issue regarding any matter concerning the South Carolina Tort Claims Act is vested exclusively in the circuit court and it has sole jurisdiction. Thus, Judge Kelly was erroneous when he held, “The court finds that jurisdiction of the subject matter of this litigation was lost when Plaintiffs settled with

DHEC, barring Plaintiff from any further action against CCPRC....” As a result of *Jeter, supra*, this Court must reverse the Order of Judge Kelly and find that this case is not barred based on Judge McCoy’s Order approving partial wrongful death settlement.

IV. CHARLESTON COUNTY PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION IS ESTOPPED.

Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission (“CCPRC”) is estopped from arguing that the Order Approving Petition for Settlement of Claim for Wrongful Death and Survival Action Against South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control signed by Judge McCoy on March 31, 2020 is not applicable. Appellant obtained a partial wrongful death settlement approval Order from Judge McCoy which specifically allowed Appellant to proceed against Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission. Notice was given to all parties including Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission and the Release was approved in open court and filed in the Charleston County Judicial Center. Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission failed to attend the hearing or to object in writing. Under the unique facts of this case, Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission is estopped from asserting S.C. Code § 15-78-70(d) as a defense. It is estopped because it had notice but failed to object to the partial settlement with DHEC. South Carolina has recognized estoppel against a government agency. A relying party, in this case Eagle, must prove (1) lack of knowledge and of the means of knowledge of the truth as to the facts in question; (2) justified reliance upon the government’s conduct; and (3) a prejudicial change in position. *Grant v. City of Folly Beach*, 346 S.C. 74, 551 S.E.2d 229, 232 (2001).

In this case, Eagle sought and received approval of the partial wrongful death settlement against DHEC by a circuit court judge who approved not only the settlement but the Release which allowed Eagle to proceed against Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission. At the hearing, Charleston County Parks and Recreation did not appear nor did it object nor make its position

known that no settlement could occur. Instead it remained silent. Eagle justifiably relied on Judge McCoy's Order approving the settlement and the Release. Eagle also changed her position to her prejudice based on Judge McCoy's Order approving the \$10,000.00 partial settlement. Eagle's conduct fits the three elements of estoppel against the government under the unique facts of this case.