RECEIVED

Feb 12 2024

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2017-CP-10-01324

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2023-000898

Steven McLemore and Bonnie Jean Eagle as Natural Parents for the Estate of D.M.,

Plaintiffs,

v.

Charleston County Parks and Recreation Commission d/b/a James Island County Park; Yearround Pool Co., Inc.; SGA Architecture; South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control; and John Doe and/or John Doe Corporation,

Defendants.

OF WHOM:

Bonnie Jean Eagle is Appellant,
and

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

This exclusionary clause within the Release is an attempt to circumvent the plain language of the Statute (“A settlement...in an action...under this chapter constitutes a complete bar to any further action by the claimant against an employee or governmental entity by reason of the same occurrence.”) While Appellant intended to settle her claim “only with DHEC and no other governmental defendant,” the law precludes this option, and our courts cannot enforce a contract which violates the public policy of South Carolina as expressed through the SCTCA. In the face of clear, unambiguous, and dispositive statutory language supporting public policy, the Appellant’s exclusionary clause was void *ab initio*.

3) PARTIES MAY NOT CONFER SUBJECT MATTER BY CONSENT.

Furthermore, subject matter jurisdiction cannot be created or modified by contract. “The question of lack of subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time during the action and cannot be **waived or conferred by consent**. . .” Gnoc Corp. v. Estate of Rhyne, 312 S.C. 86, 88, 439 S.E.2d 274, 275 (1994) (emphasis added), referencing Petroleum Transp., Inc. v. Public Service Comm’n, 255 S.C. 419, 179 S.E.2d 326 (1971); American Agric. Chem. Co. v. Thomas, 206 S.C. 355, 34 S.E.2d 592 (1945). Appellant asks this Court to enforce their Settlement

Agreement, which contains an exclusionary clause contrary to state law and attempts to expand the Circuit Court’s jurisdiction further than the Legislature intended.

4) PLAINTIFFS ELECTED A REMEDY.

It is logical to ask—since the Legislature intends for governmental agencies to be liable for their torts as a private individual (S.C. CODE §15-78-40 (2015))—why this provision exists at all? Why does the Statute operate in a manner precluding a Plaintiff from recovering against multiple governmental defendants for a single occurrence? Simply put, governmental entities are all separate manifestations of a single entity: the State of South Carolina. The Statute is a codification of the election of remedies doctrine as applied to the State to prevent double recovery by any Plaintiff.

When a Plaintiff sues multiple governmental entities, South Carolina Courts engage in the useful fiction that these entities are distinct and separate for efficiency, liability apportionment, and insurance purposes. However, the intent of the Legislature in drafting the South Carolina Tort Claims Act was for courts to treat a single occurrence claim against multiple governmental actors as a single claim against the State. *See, S.C. CODE ANN. §15-78-120 (2012)*. This is evident from the Legislature’s reaction to the South Carolina Supreme Court ruling that “Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act repealed sections 15-78-100(c)² and 15-78-120(a)(1)³ of the Tort Claims Act.” *Se. Freight Lines v. City of Hartsville*, 313 SC 466, 469, 443 S.E.2d 395, 397 (1994). In

² “In all actions brought pursuant to this chapter when an alleged joint tortfeasor is named as party defendant in addition to the governmental entity, the trier of fact must return a special verdict specifying the proportion of monetary liability of each defendant against whom liability is determined.” S.C. CODE ANN. §15-78-100(c).

³ “Except as provided in Section 15-78-120(a)(3), no person shall recover in any action or claim brought hereunder a sum exceeding three hundred thousand dollars because of loss arising from a single occurrence regardless of the number of agencies or political subdivisions involved.” S.C. CODE ANN. §15-78-120(a)(1).

response, the Legislature amended the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act to include S.C. CODE ANN. §15-38-65 (2022), which states explicitly, “[t]he Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act shall not apply to governmental entities.” *See also*, 1994 SC Acts 497, 1993 SC H.B. 4820, 1994 SC R. 609, 1994 SC Acts 497, 1993 SC H.B. 4820, 1994 SC R. 609, and *Dykema v. Carolina Emergency Physicians, P.C.*, 348 SC 549, 560 S.E.2d 894 (2002) (detailing the history of this legislative process). This action by the Legislature protected both S.C. CODE ANN. §15-78-100 (2022) and—pertinent to this case—S.C. CODE ANN. §15-78-120 (2012) as it reaffirmed the Legislature’s intent to group all “agencies or political subdivisions” together during litigation of a single occurrence.

When a plaintiff receives funds from a governmental agency via judgment or settlement, they receive South Carolina tax dollars to redress their grievances. Allowing Appellant to move forward in this case after settling with DHEC—without including CCPRC—is allowing them double recovery against the State of South Carolina for the same occurrence. The prevention of this is “the basic purpose of election of remedies.” *Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Corp.*, 387 S.C. 22, 56, 691 S.E.2d 135, 152-53 (2010), quoting *Save Charleston Found. v. Murray*, 286 S.C. 170, 333 S.E.2d 60 (Ct. App. 1985). *See also*, *Brown v. Felkel*, 320 S.C. 292, 295 n.1, 465 S.E.2d 93, 95 (Ct. App. 1995) (“The election of remedies doctrine focuses on the prevention of a double recovery based on the same injury”).

The Legislature does not allow for repeated damages among multiple governmental defendants for a single occurrence; it treats recovery of damages from them as a unified block: The State of South Carolina. S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-78-120. In this instance, Appellant settled with the State of South Carolina through DHEC, without involving CCPRC, and thereby elected a remedy: the SCTCA precludes them from pursuing further recovery from the State.

B. THE LAW OF THE CASE DOCTRINE IS INAPPLICABLE.

The Law of the Case Doctrine is a “discretionary appellate doctrine with no preclusive effect on successive trial proceedings.” State v. Hewins, 409 S.C. 93, 113 n.5, 760 S.E.2d 814, 824 (2014). As Appellant point out, this doctrine precludes re-litigating issues which “were either not raised on appeal, but should have been raised, or raised on appeal but expressly rejected by the appellate court.” Judy v. Martin, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009). This doctrine “applies only to subsequent proceedings in the same litigation following an appellate decision.” Builders Mut. Ins. Co. v. Bob Wire Elec., Inc., 424 S.C. 161, 165, 817 S.E.2d 807, 809 (Ct. App. 2018), referencing Lifschultz Fast Freight, Inc. v. Haynsworth, Marion, McKay & Guerard, 334 S.C. 244, 245, 513 S.E.2d 96, 96-97 (1999). As the Appellate Court has not yet made any determinations in this case, there is no law of the case on which to base this argument.

However, should this Court interpret this doctrine as a variation of the argument that “one circuit court judge cannot overrule another,” Respondent notes that grounds for objection or appeal of the Settlement Agreement between Plaintiffs and DHEC by CCPRC do not exist. Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss is based solely on the jurisdictional impact caused by the Settlement Agreement. As a general principle of law, “[everyone] is presumed to know the effect of a contract that he signs, and misrepresentations as to the legal effect made to him by the other party will not invalidate the contract.”⁴ Chapman v. Metro. Life Ins. Co., 172 S.C. 250, 262, 173 S.E. 801, 806 (1934), citing Batesburg Cotton Oil Co. v. S. R. Co., 103 S.C. 494, 500-01, 88 S.E. 360, 362 (1916). See also, Noojin v. Noojin, 417 S.C. 300, 310 n.5, 789 S.E.2d 769, 774 (Ct. App. 2016) (“Where

⁴ Appellant does not contend CCPRC or its counsel misrepresented anything concerning the contract between Plaintiffs and DHEC, but counsel for CCPRC includes the entire quote to avoid the appearance of ‘cherry picking’ quotes for their benefit.

an instrument evidences care in its preparation, it will be presumed its words were employed deliberately and with intention.”)

In this case, Plaintiff’s Settlement Agreement with DHEC triggered S.C. CODE §15-78-70(d), which stripped the Circuit Court of its subject matter jurisdiction over any other governmental defendant(s).

C. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY RULED IT NO LONGER HAD SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION.

Respondent agrees with Appellant’s statement that the Legislature “specifically conferred subject matter jurisdiction of all tort claims against governmental entities on the trial court” through S.C. CODE §15-78-100(b). Appellant’s Initial Brief, at 7. However, the fact that the Legislature granted this jurisdiction in the first place ensures they may place reasonable limits on it, which it did in S.C. CODE §15-78-70(d).

The Respondent has never, and does not now, contest the appropriate jurisdiction to file a suit against a governmental entity is the circuit court of the county where the tort occurred. Neither does it challenge the South Carolina Torts Claim Act (“SCTCA”) grants subject matter jurisdiction to the trial courts of this State. However, the initial grant of subject matter jurisdiction is irrelevant to Judge Kelly’s Order that the result of Appellant’s Settlement Agreement was to remove the trial courts power to hear and determine any further proceedings by Appellant against governmental entities. Respondent contends that when the Legislature enacts a bill containing the words “complete bar,” the Legislature means what it says. “What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature.” Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000), citing Norman J. Singer, Sutherland Statutory Construction § 46.03 at 94 (5th ed. 1992).

Appellant posits the appropriate question before this Court is whether “a second circuit court judge can grant a Rule 12(b), SCRCP motion if one governmental defendant settles and it was court approved by another judge?” Appellant’s Initial Brief, at 7. This question reiterates Judge Burch’s ruling that “one circuit judge [can] not overrule another circuit judge.” Id., at 3. If Respondent argued that Judge McCoy’s Settlement Order was invalid, this would be the appropriate argument, but that is not Respondent’s argument. Respondent contends the trial court *lost* subject matter jurisdiction over this case because Appellant’s election to settle with DHEC “constitutes a complete bar to any further action by the claimant against an employee or governmental entity by reason of the same occurrence.” S.C. CODE §15-78-70(d).

The Order Granting CCPRC’s Motion to Dismiss did not overrule Judge McCoy’s or Judge Burch’s orders.⁵ Judge McCoy dealt with the validity of an agreement to settle the dispute between the Plaintiffs and DHEC. Neither her Order, nor the agreement between the parties, is overturned by the Circuit Court’s recognition that it no longer has subject-matter jurisdiction.

Despite this, even if this Court did overrule either Judge McCoy or Judge Burch, this is a complaint without a remedy; no judge can grant a trial court subject matter it does not have. “The jurisdiction of a Court over the subject-matter of an action depends upon the authority granted to it by the Constitution and laws of the State and is fundamental.” Am. Agric. Chem. Co., at 362, 595. See also, Paschal v. Causey, 309 S.C. 206, 209, 420 S.E.2d 863, 865 (Ct. App. 1992) (stating subject matter jurisdiction is conferred by the Constitution and state laws and cannot be waived or conferred by consent.)

⁵ Appellant made previous arguments that CCPRC’s Motion to Dismiss was precluded because their Motion for Summary Judgment also relied on S.C. CODE §15-78-70(d) and, therefore, already raised the issue of subject matter jurisdiction. (R. p.20). There is no evidence for this contention as neither CCPRC’s written briefs, nor the Order by Judge Burch indicate an argument concerning subject matter jurisdiction. Had Judge Burch viewed CCPRC’s Summary Judgment Motion as a challenge to subject matter jurisdiction, he would have been bound by Rule 12(h)(3), SCRCP to address it within his Order.

Respondent respectfully requests this Court affirm the lower court's ruling that, while it initially had subject matter jurisdiction over this case, the settlement between Appellant and DHEC removed that jurisdiction through the operation of the Statute.

D. ESTOPPEL IS NOT AVAILABLE AGAINST THE GOVERNMENT TO THWART THE APPLICATION OF PUBLIC POLICY.

Appellant argues, for the first time in response to the Motion to Dismiss, CCPRC's failure to object to the Settlement Agreement at the time of its hearing before Judge McCoy estops CCPRC from asserting S.C. CODE §15-78-70(d) as a defense in this case.⁶ As a point of precision, CCPRC asserts subject matter jurisdiction as a defense, not S.C. CODE §15-78-70(d). However, this is a distinction without a difference, as the operation of the Statute denies the Circuit Court's subject matter jurisdiction.

Previously, Appellant argued CCPRC's failure to object to the Settlement Agreement constituted a waiver of their ability to raise the Statute. (R. pp.20-21). However, the Statute is self-executing, and therefore, is not a right CCPRC can waive, either passively or actively. See, *Campbell v. City of N. Charleston*, 431 S.C. 454, 464, 848 S.E.2d 788, 793 (Ct. App. 2020) (ruling that a failure to affirmatively plead limitations on damages does not constitute a waiver of those limitations as the statute was self-executing); *Parker v. Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer Dist.*, 362 S.C. 276, 285, 607 S.E.2d 711, 716 (Ct. App. 2005) (ruling since the Act contained no verbiage requiring government agencies to plead the statutory monetary cap, the cap is self-executing).

Appellant's current argument utilizes estoppel to thwart the application of public policy. "As a general rule, estoppel does not lie against the government to prevent the due exercise of its

⁶ CCPRC acknowledges that Appellant's raised "Estoppel by Record" in their response to the Motion for Summary Judgment (R. p. 55), but Appellant does not assert that argument now, and did not assert it in response to CCPRC's 12(b)(1) Motion to Dismiss.

police power or to thwart the application of public policy.” Grant v. City of Folly Beach, 346 S.C. 74, 80, 551 S.E.2d 229, 232 (2001) citing South Carolina Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Parker, 275 S.C. 176, 268 S.E.2d 282 (1980). Respondent refers this Court to §VI.A.2 of this brief, which explains that the SCTCA is a statutory expression of the public policy regarding the waiver and limitations of the State’s sovereign immunity. One of those principles is found in the Statute, which is a mechanism for preventing double recovery against the State for a single occurrence.

Appellant avers that she can prove estoppel against CCPRC by showing: (1) she had neither the knowledge nor ability to learn the truth about (presumably) the effects of settling with only one governmental defendant, (2) she justifiably relied on Judge McCoy’s Order, and (3) this reliance caused her to change her position prejudicially. Grant, at 80, 232.

First, Appellant’s contention that she neither knew nor had the ability to learn the truth about the effect of settling with only one governmental defendant is not a tenable position. Generally, governmental entities violate this prong when they enforce laws more stringently than the text of the law allows. See, Landing Dev. Corp. v. Myrtle Beach, 285 S.C. 216, 219-20, 329 S.E.2d 423, 424-25 (1985) (ruling that Myrtle Beach was estopped from denying Plaintiffs a business license for short-term rentals since an ordinance did not specify short-term rentals were not allowed in a particular zoning area.) In the present instance, the Statute was clear, unambiguous, and in effect at the time she entered the Settlement Agreement⁷, and “ignorance of the law remains no excuse.” Sullivan-Carter v. Carter, 439 S.C. 406, 417, 887 S.E.2d 146, 152 (Ct. App. 2023) (a failure to understand the nuances of the laws concerning common law marriage is not an excuse allowing for the existence of a common-law marriage.) See also, State v. Latimore,

⁷ “It is a fundamental rule of contract construction that the law existing at the time and place of making of a contract is a part of the contract.” N. Charleston v. N. Charleston Dist., 289 S.C. 438, 442, 346 S.E.2d 712, 715 (1986), internal citations omitted.

390 S.C. 88, 98, 700 S.E.2d 456, 462 (Ct. App. 2010) (where an offender failed to abide by the updated requirements of S.C. CODE §23-3-460(A), his ignorance of the changes did not excuse his failure to abide); Oxford Fin. Cos. v. Burgess, 303 S.C. 534, 539, 402 S.E.2d 480, 482 (1991) (“Landlord’s mistaken view of the law is of no avail to him.”)

Second, Appellant contends she justifiably relied upon Judge McCoy’s Order, but the standard is that she must show she “justifiabl[y] reli[ed] upon the conduct **of the party estopped.**” Midlands Util., Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control, 298 S.C. 66, 71, 378 S.E.2d 256, 259 (1989), *emphasis added*. Appellant must show she relied upon CCPRC’s conduct, which is not a contention she makes to this Court. Instead, she argues she relied on Judge McCoy’s conduct. To the extent she detrimentally relied on any party’s action, it was not the actions of CCPRC.

Finally, Appellant contends “the action based thereon was of such a character as to change prejudicially the position of the party claiming the estoppel.” Landing Dev. Corp., at 219, 424. It is unclear to which action she refers, and Appellant provides no supporting facts or law to support this position.

Appellant does not meet the criteria to assert estoppel in this action against Respondent. In any event, the assertion of estoppel does not waive a party’s right to assert a lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Once again, Appellant misconstrues CCPRC’s argument by declaring that Respondent says Judge McCoy’s Order is not applicable. Not so. Respondent argues that by operation of law, the Circuit Court lost subject matter jurisdiction when Appellant settled with a separate governmental agency and that subject matter jurisdiction “cannot be waived or conferred by consent...” as Appellant attempted to do in the final clause of the Settlement Agreement. Gnoc Corp., at 88, 275.

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